1986

Vie Steele v. Robert H. Breinholt : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Plaintiff Vietta Steel sued the defendant, Robert Breinholt, dba Aspen Care Center, for damages arising from her arrest for trespass at the Aspen Care Center on October 22, 1984 after the criminal charge was dismissed against her in November, 1984 because there was insufficient evidence for a prosecution. Her civil complaint alleged causes of acts for malicious prosecution; abuse of process; false imprisonment; and a tort of outrage as set out in the Restatement (2nd) of Torts, §46.

The trial court instructed the jury that if plaintiff had committed a criminal trespass she could not recover against the defendant under theories of malicious prosecution, abuse of process or false imprisonment regardless of defendant's motive in having her arrested. The trial judge refused, however, to instruct the jury that under Section 76-6-206(4) plaintiff was not guilty of trespass if:

(a) that the property was open to the public when the actor entered or remained and

(b) the actor's conduct did not substantially interfere with the owners use of the property.

The failure to so instruct was prejudicial error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of the Nature of the Case

Plaintiff Vietta Steele appeals to this court for an order granting her a new trial due to the trial courts failure to properly instruct the jury on the legal defense to the charge of criminal trespass.

Disposition of Case in Lower Court

Trial was held on May 27, through 30, 1986 before the Honorable John F. Wahlquist sitting with a jury. The jury found no cause of action by plaintiff against defendant and awarded no damages in the case. Plaintiff's Complaint was accordingly dismissed.

Statement of Facts

Plaintiff Vietta Steele was an old friend of a man named Zenon Domper. They met in 1968 when both worked at the Defense Depot, Ogden. A friendship developed and Mr. Domper was thereafter a frequent guest in the Steele household. (TR.5, R.612) Later when confined in a nursing home, the Steeles were frequent and regular visitors with Mr. Domper through June, 1984.

In June 1970, Mr. Domper suffered a stroke. At his request and through his personal attorney Pete Vlahos, Mrs. Steele was appointed his legal guardian. (TR.6, R.613) She served in that capacity for about five (5) years and her husband did so for another year. Thereafter Mr. Domper's

financial affairs were turned over to the First Security Bank where they remained until his death. (TR.9, R.616)

In late 1983, Mrs. Steele learned of money being given by Mr. Domper to employees of the Aspen Care Center in excess of normal nursing home expenses. She felt that gifts of \$300.00 to \$500.00 to nursing home employees were inappropriate due to the possibility of coercion or undue influence on Mr. Domper by Aspen Care Center employees. She made complaint to the Veteran's Administration and the State of Utah. (TR.11-14, R.618-621)

Aspen Care Center was notified of these complaints around the month of January or early February, 1984 (TR.314, R.921). In March, 1984 Mr. Domper allegedly wanted to see an attorney about terminating a Power of Attorney he believed Mrs. Steele possessed concerning his financial affairs. Attorney Burt Havas was contacted by the Care Center (TR.289, R.896). Mr. Havas had previously worked for the Care Center but did not know Mr. Domper (TR.277, R.884). There had been no effort made by Care Center employees to contact Mr. Domper's personal attorney of many years standing, attorney Pete Vlahos. As a result of Mr. Havas' meeting with Mr. Domper, a letter was sent by Mr. Havas to Mrs. Steele terminating the Power of Attorney which in fact never existed (TR.277, R.884).

On June 21, 1984, Mrs. Steele received another

letter from Attorney Havas demanding that she not see Mr. Domper or attempt to do so in the future or a restraining order would be obtained. Mr. Domper did not authorize or request that this letter be sent (TR.295, R.902). Rather, it was generated at the request of the Care Center. At the same time instructions were given Aspen Care Center that Mrs. Steele was not to visit Mr. Domper for more than 30 minutes at a time. These latter instructions again came from Mr. Havas.

Mrs. Steele stayed away from the Care Center until late 1984 although she remained in contact with Care Center employees, specifically Steven Anderson, receiving reports about Mr. Domper's health. (TR.275, R.882)

In late September, 1984 Mrs. Steele visited Mr. Domper in the company of Robert Lowe a Veteran's Administration specialist employed by the State of Utah, Department of Employment Security (TR.132, R.739). Mr. Domper appeared glad to see them and appreciative of their visit (TR.135, R.742). Around October 21, 1984 Mrs. Steele learned that Mr. Domper's health was deteriorating so she went to visit Mr. Domper in the company of her friend, Anna Holman who was also acquainted with Mr. Domper. She found Mr. Domper in poor physical health and dressed in a dirty soiled shirt. She and Mrs. Holman changed the shirt while visiting with Mr. Domper. Again Mr. Domper seemed apprecia-

tive of the visit (TR.151-52, R.758-759).

Alarmed at Mr. Domper's condition, early the next morning (a Monday) Mrs. Steele called the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Salt Lake City. She was referred again to Robert Lowe who she spoke to by telephone. She informed Mr. Lowe that she was very alarmed about Mr. Domper's condition (TR.138, R.745). Mr. Lowe contacted the Veteran's Administration in Salt Lake City and was instructed to tell Mrs. Steele to go see Mr. Domper and inquire whether he wanted to go to the hospital. If he did, Mrs. Steele could then bring Mr. Domper to the hospital immediately. (TR.139, R.746). Mr. Lowe relayed these instructions to Mrs. Steele. (TR.139-40, R.746-747).

After receiving these instruction from Mr. Lowe, Mrs. Steele and her husband went to the Aspen Care Center. Mrs. Steele had a pocket tape recorder in her purse. She turned it on as she got out of her car to enter the Care Center. The tape recording (R.218) is an important piece of evidence because it contains no evidence of any disturbance or unreasonable conduct on the part of Mrs. Steele from which it can be concluded that she in any way substantially interfered with the defendant's operation of its Care Center.

When Mrs. Steele and her husband entered the Care Center, Mr. Domper was in a wheelchair in the lobby (TR.159,

R.766-767). Mr. Steele asked Mr. Domper if he wanted to go to the Veteran's Administration Hospital and he nodded yes (TR.160, R.767).

While Mr. Steele was speaking to Mr. Domper, a woman arrived and asked Mrs. Steele if she was Vietta Steele. Receiving an affirmative answer the woman (Jolene Hill) told Mrs. Steele that she could not be in the facility because there was a restraining order in existence prohibiting her presence in the Care Center. Mrs. Steele requested that she be shown the order. None could be produced because none existed.

A second employee, Debra Hill, was called to the front office area. She wheeled Mr. Domper out of the lobby. When Debra Hill learned that Mrs. Steele was present she called Salt Lake City. She spoke to a Pamela Bues who was the bookkeeper for the Aspen Care Center. Pamela Bues instructed Debra Hill to have Mrs. Steele arrested for trespass. It was the intent of Pamela Bues that the arrest be used to get Mrs. Steele out of the facility. (TR.239, R.846). There was no intent at any time that Mrs. Steele be prosecuted for criminal trespass, rather that the arrest process simply be used as a vehicle to remove her from the facility on that particular day.

The Ogden City Police were called with Officer Ann Grotegut responding. It was the testimony of the two Care

Center employees and Officer Grotegut that Mrs. Steele was asked to leave the premises voluntarily or she would be arrested. It was the testimony of Mrs. Steele and her husband that she was never asked to voluntarily leave the facility before she was placed under arrest.

Mrs. Steele was then placed under arrest by Officer Grotegut, transported to the Weber County Jail and there booked into that facility. She was searched, her mug shot and fingerprints obtained. She remained in jail for approximately an hour and a half before she was released on her own recognizance. She was directed to appear in Circuit Court in November, 1984. She hired attorney Don Sharp to defend her on the criminal charge. On the day set for trial the criminal trespass charge was dismissed because there was insufficient evidence to proceed. Actually the Car Center had been contacted and declined prosecution.

Four days following Mrs. Steele's arrest at the Aspen Care Center on October 22, 1984 Mr. Domper's whose deteriorating health Mrs. Steele had been gravely concerned about, died at the Aspen Care Center.

Following the testimony at trial and over plaintiff's objections, Judge Wahlquist instructed the jury that Mrs. Steele could not recover in the case under theories of malicious prosecution, abusive process or false imprisonment if she was at the time of her arrest guilty of criminal

trespass regardless of the defendant's intent or motive in having her arrested or using the criminal process only to obtain her removal from the Care Center Facility on October 22, 1984. The trial court refused to instruct the jury that it is a defense to the charge of criminal trespass that the facility was open to the public when Mrs. Steele entered or remained in the building and her conduct did not substantially interfere with the defendant's use and operation of the Care Center.

The pertinent instruction given by the court is set out in the explanation on pages 194 and 195 of the record. It states:

The plaintiff here alleges that the agents of the defendant lack both proper motive, that is, acting with malice, and acted also without probable cause, that is a reasonable basis for the belief that she had committed criminal trespass. The defendant denies these allegations. The defendant further alleges that the plaintiff is in fact guilty of the charge. The law provides that persons should be encouraged to bring criminal offenders to justice, and does not intend to reward guilty people with civil judgment, and, therefore, guilty persons should not recover for any of the first three civil wrongs here alleged, such as malicious prosecution, abusive process, false arrest or imprisonment. If she is in fact guilty of criminal trespass, she cannot recover under any of the first three theories or questions here presented, and the answer to each question should be "no". For this defense to come into play, the defendant must prove by at least a preponderance of the evidence the elements of that offense. The elements are as follows: (1) That the plaintiff entered or remained on the defendant's premises; and (2) did so after she was reasonably informed that she was requested not to enter, or remain.

Plaintiff's objections to that portion of the jury instructions are set out in the record at pages 928-939, (TR.321-332).

Summary of Argument

The trial court improperly refused to instruct the jury that it is a defense to the criminal charge of trespass that the property in question was open to the public when plaintiff entered or remained in the Care Center and plaintiff's conduct did not substantially interfere with the defendant's use of the property pursuant to Section 76-6-206(4), UCA. This is a factual issue under the criminal trespass section of the Code and should have been submitted to the Jury.

ARGUMENT

There are no cases in Utah which discuss the perimeters of the meaning or application of the language contained in Section 76-6-206(4). A logical interpretation of that statutory language, however, is that the legislature recognized that circumstances may occur in which a person has a legitimate reason for remaining on property or refusing to leave when demanded to so do, and that the criminal trespass statute cannot be used as a pretext in those circumstances to obtain the otherwise improper removal of another from the premises.

The primary reason advanced by the trial court for

failing to instruct the jury concerning the statutory defense to criminal trespass set out in the statute was the trial judge's opinion that the statute must only refer to a public building, for example a court house, municipal, county or state office building rather than a privately owned facility otherwise open to the public (TR.328, R.935).

There was no question in this case that the Care Center was open to the public when plaintiff entered. The deposition of the defendant is pertinent:

Q: The nursing home facilities, or specifically Aspen Care, do they maintain visiting hours or open visiting with people?

A: It's open visitation. People can come visit the patients there most any time that's a reasonable hour.

Q: Is the facility generally then open to the public for visitation purposes like that?

A: Well, in the sense that visitors are welcome at any hour it is. It's not generally open to the public who have no purpose for being there. (Brienholt Depo. P.29, R.594)

Q: Now, the Aspen Care Center, do you consider it as open to the public?

A: Well, it's private property. And it's open to people who have a purpose for being there for. . . . and it's also open to patient visitors whom the patient would want. (TR.306, R.913)

Clearly a nursing home is a quasi-public facility in the sense that anyone who has a legitimate purpose in

visiting or confining with a patient may enter at any hour. Mrs. Steele's sole purpose in going to the Care Center on October 22, 1984 was her legitimate concern about Mr. Domper's deteriorating health. Absent a restraining order preventing her from entering the facility, she was legally entitled to do so. Assuming she was asked to leave the premises before she was placed under arrest, which is disputed, was her refusal justified by her concern for Mr. Domper's health? She was a friend of many years standing, familiar with Mrs. Domper's physical condition and appearance; had received word that Mr. Domper's health was deteriorating; had verified that information through her own observation on the previous day; and had been so concerned that she felt it necessary to try and obtain immediate hospital care; and in fact he died four days later. Those facts would certainly seem to lend the air of legitimacy to her presence at the Care Center on October 22, 1984.

From a social standpoint, the elderly who are physically or mentally infirm are routinely placed in nursing care facilities like Aspen Care Center. The elderly themselves may be too ill or too dependant or too scarred to themselves monitor the care or conduct of a nursing home facility to be assured that they are receiving proper care or treatment. Therefore, the obligation of scrutinizing that care and conduct must fall on friends and relatives of

the patient. In that circumstance if there is a legitimate belief that the medical treatment a patient is receiving is inadequate and the need for additional care immediate that concern should not be capable of defeat via the criminal trespass statute simply because a person is asked to leave a facility and if she or he refuses can be placed under arrest and removed. At that point a more searching inquiry into the facts, as via a hearing on request for a temporary restraining order would certainly seem preferable and more appropriate than resort to a pretext arrest under the trespass statute.

There is extremely little law on this subject. Utah has no statute guaranteeing access to a patient in a nursing care facility. There have been some limited cases dealing with this subject matter. These are set out in Nursing Home Law contained in Chapter 5, Access to Facilities, attached hereto as Appendix 1 and referred to in the case of Rabbi Samuel Teitelbaum and Larry and Louise Diehl, plaintiffs, v. Theordore Sorenson, dba Waitwell Nursing Home, Civil No. 79-199 in the United States District Court in and for the District of Arizona, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order granting preliminary injunction, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix 2.

The remaining question involved is whether or not