1986

Vie Steele v. Robert H. Breinholt : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in refusing to instruct the jury on the statutory defense to criminal trespass contained in Utah Code Ann. §76-6-206(4) (1978)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 22, 1984, an employee of the Aspen Care Center instigated a citizen's arrest of appellant Vietta Steele who was demanding to visit an elderly resident patient. The appellant had previously been requested, in writing, from the patient's private attorney, to refrain from visiting with and causing disturbances with the patient. The arrest also occurred after the patient had informed two Aspen Care employees that he did not want to see Mrs. Steele and after she had been requested to leave the premises by Aspen Care Center employees and a policewoman. The appellant was taken by the policewoman to the Ogden City Police Station, booked and released on her own recognizance to appear for trial on trespassing charges on November 28, 1984. The elderly patient died on October 26, 1984, and on November 28, 1984, charges against Mrs. Steele were dismissed without any trial, based on representations of the City Prosecutor that the City had decided to dismiss the charges after conferring with Aspen Care Center employees when it was learned the patient had died and Aspen Care Center did not believe there was any purpose at that point, in following through with the trial. Thereafter the appellant filed suit against respondent Robert Breinholt dba Aspen Care Center seeking actual and punitive damages for malicious prosecution, abuse of process, false imprison-

ment and the tort of outrage.

Appellant Vietta Steele appeals from an adverse judgment in the trial court, claiming that it was prejudicial error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury on the statutory defense to the charge of criminal trespass, contained in Utah Code Ann. §76-6-206(4)(1978). Appellant seeks a new trial on the basis of that error.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant's Statement of Facts ignores the cardinal rule of appellate review that the record will be reviewed in the light most favorable to the prevailing party in the trial court. Kohler v. Garden City, 639 P.2d 162 (Utah 1981); Hutcheson v. Gleave, 632 P.2d 815, 816 (Utah 1981); Charlton v. Hackett, 11 Utah 2d 389, 360 P.2d 176 (1961). Indeed the Statement of Facts set forth in appellant's brief only recites that evidence which allegedly supports her claim of error and ignores material evidence which supports the trial court's decision. This has been held to be an independent basis for affirmance. Hobbs v. Denver & Rio Grande Western R.R., 677 P.2d 1128 (Utah 1984). The following statement of facts simply directs the court's attention to those facts which clearly support the trial court's finding in favor of respondent.

This case arises from the events surrounding appellant Vietta Steele's ("Steele") long-time friendship with a man named Zenon Dompore ("Dompore"). Dompore was an elderly patient at the Aspen Care Center ("Care Center"), a privately owned and operated skilled nursing home facility in Ogden, Utah. (R.912-913) Mr. Dompore had

no family except a sister living in the Philipines and a niece in Illinois. (R.613, 614) He suffered a stroke in June of 1970.

(R.613)

The appellant, Vietta Steele was a resident of Clearfield, Utah, (R.612), and at the time of her arrest was neither a relative, next of kin or guardian of Mr. Dompur. Nevertheless, following Mr. Dompur's stroke, Mrs. Steele became a dedicated and vigorous advocate on his behalf concerning his finances and the quality of care provided to him. (R.652-653) For several years she had complained to many persons, health care providers, state and federal agencies overseeing skilled nursing facilities and even Channel 5 News concerning what she perceived to be inadequate care provided to Mr. Dompur, by not only Aspen Care Center, but by other skilled care centers. (R.618, 621, 653, 655, 740)

In 1984, Zenon Dompur became upset over Mrs. Steele's involvement in his affairs. (R.885) He hired a lawyer named David Havas who sent a letter to Mrs. Steele dated March 22, 1984, to terminate any power of attorney she may have had, together with a termination of power of attorney signed by Zenon Dompur. (R.622, 885) Dompur believed Steele may have had power of attorney over his affairs, and told Havas that he didn't want Steele to "have anything to do with him or interfere with his life." (R.885) After that time, Steele continued to visit Dompur at the Care Center with the same frequency as before, but she tried to avoid the Care Center staff. (R.623)

Mr. Havas again sent a letter dated June 21, 1984, to Mrs.

Steele's attorney reflecting Mrs. Steele had been at Aspen Care Center causing disturbances involving Zenon Dompur and requesting her to stay away and refrain from causing further disturbances or he would be forced to obtain a restraining order. (R.624, 892)

Steele had recently visited Dompur at the Care Center and caused a disturbance which upset Dompur. (R.893) The Care Center believed it was "detrimental to [Dompur's] well being" for Steele to continue visiting, and therefore requested Havas to send the letter. (R.893) An officer at the state Ombudsmen's office also requested that Havas write the letter. (R.893) Dompur told members of the Care Center staff in June of 1984 that he did not want Steele to visit him. (R.776)

Just past noon on October 22, 1984, the appellant Vietta Steele marched into the Aspen Care Center with a tape recorder in hand and walked over to visit with Mr. Dompur. (R.632) Two Aspen Care Center employees (Jolene Anderson, a Social Work Designee and Debbie Hill, a Medical Records Clerk) separately asked Mr. Dompur if he wanted to be visited by Mrs. Steele and he replied no. (R.780, 805) In addition, Dompur had come to Hill earlier that morning, before Steele's arrival and crying, told Hill that Steele had visited him the night before and that he did not want to visit her any more. (R.775) Dompur told Hill that he was afraid Steele was "after his money." (R.775)

Jolene Andersen and Debbie Hill each asked Mrs. Steele several times to leave but each time she refused. (R.786, 804, 823) They called a policewoman who also asked her to leave and she

refused. (R.817) Mrs. Steele even rejected her husband's plea to leave. (R.824) She was advised by the officer, if she did not leave she would be arrested for trespassing on private property. (R.817) She refused to leave and Debra Hill signed a citizen's arrest form. (R.836) The officer took her to jail where she was booked and released on her own recognizance. (R.649-650) As Steele was being driven to the police station by Officer Grotegut, Steele told Officer Grotegut that since she was being arrested, all the "horrible things" that were happening to Dompur at the Care Center could now be documented. (R.838-839) While still at the Care Center, Steele had at one point told Anderson that she wanted to be arrested so that the events of that day would be documented. (R.823)

On the morning of November 28, 1984, when Steele was scheduled for arraignment, she was notified that the trespass charge would not be prosecuted because Dompur had died four or five days after the arrest. (R.651) Steele then brought this action against the Care Center and its owner Robert Breinholt, alleging malicious prosecution, abuse of process, the tort of outrage, and false imprisonment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly refused the requested instruction because there was no substantial evidence to support either element of the defense.

I. The evidence shows conclusively that the Care Center was not open to the public so far as appellant Steele was concerned.

Steele knew she had been prohibited from entering the premises, and Dompore had told Care Center employees that he didn't want to see Steele. She had been requested by Dompore's attorney not to visit him and by representatives of the Care Center to leave and by the officer to leave.

II. The evidence also demonstrates conclusively that Steele's presence substantially interfered with the operation of the Care Center. Testimony showed that Dompore was emotionally upset about Steele's prior visits and that her presence on October 22, 1984, further upset him emotionally.

ARGUMENT

The sole issue raised on this appeal is whether it was error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury on the statutory defense to the charge of criminal trespass which is contained in Utah Code Ann. §76-6-206(4)(1978). The trial judge instructed the jury that if they found that Steele would have been guilty of criminal trespass, she could not recover on any of the civil causes of action alleged. If the trial court had instructed the jury regarding the statutory defense, and the jury had found the defense applicable, Steele may have obtained a favorable verdict on her civil claims. Steele, therefore, claims that she was prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to instruct on the statutory defense which reads as follows:

- (4) It is a defense to prosecution under this section:
 - (a) That the property was open to the public when the actor entered or remained; and
 - (b) The actor's conduct did not substantially interfere with the owner's use of the property.

Utah Code Ann. §76-6-206(4)(1978).

It is well established in Utah law that a party is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case if there is any substantial evidence to justify such an instruction. Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621, 622 (Utah 1977); State v. McCumber, 622 P.2d 353, 359 (Utah 1980); See also Watters v. Querry, 626 P.2d 455, 458 (Utah 1981). However, where the evidence provides no reasonable basis to support the instruction, a trial court's refusal to give the instruction is not reversible error. Dixon v. Stoddard, 627 P.2d 83, 86 (Utah 1981); Powers v. Gene's Bldg. Materials, Inc., 567 P.2d 174, 176 (Utah 1977). In addition, even where the failure to instruct may have been error, if it appears that the outcome of the trial would not have been affected by giving the requested instruction, failure to instruct is not prejudicial error. State v. Smith, 700 P.2d 1106, 1110 (Utah 1985); State v. Bell, 563 P.2d 186, 188 (Utah 1977).

The question whether this instruction was properly refused, therefore, requires an analysis of whether there was any substantial evidence to justify an instruction on the defense. The defense has two elements. A jury when given an instruction on this defense, must find that (1) the premises were open to the public at the time of the alleged trespass, and (2) the person's presence did not substantially interfere with the owners use of the property. Utah Code Ann. §76-6-206(4)(1978). Unless both of those elements are established, the defense is not available to the appellant. The

sufficiency of the evidence as to each element of the defense is discussed below.

POINT I.

OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

The Utah Supreme Court has not interpreted the phrase "open to the public" as contained in §76-6-206(4). Therefore, reference must be made to the decisions from other states which have interpreted that phrase in the same context. In State v. Ocean, 24 Or.App. 289, 546 P.2d 150, 152 (Or.Ct.App. 1976), the Oregon Court of Appeals interpreted the phrase "open to the public" as it is found in Oregon's criminal trespass statute. In that case, the defendant had received written notice from Fred Meyer Corporation prohibiting him from entering any Fred Meyer store without the permission of an officer of the corporation. Despite this prohibition, defendant entered a Fred Meyer store and was charged with criminal trespass. The defendant claimed his entry was not unlawful because the store was "open to the public" at the time of his entry. In deciding the meaning of the phrase "open to the public," the Oregon court referred to the statutory definition of that phrase as contained in Or.Rev.Stat. §164.205(4)(1953), which definition reads as follows:

"Open to the public" means premises which by their physical nature, function, custom, usage, notice or lack thereof or other circumstances at the time would cause a reasonable person to believe that no permission to enter or remain is required."

Under Oregon law, as under Utah law, a person is not guilty of

unlawful entry if the premises are open to the public at the time. See State v. Taylor, 17 Or.App. 499, 522 P.2d 499, 500-501 (Or.Ct.App. 1974). However, the court held that because the defendant had been prohibited from entering the premises of any Fred Meyer store, he was "not a member of the general public to whom the premises were open, even during business hours." State v. Ocean, 546 P.2d at 152-153.

Applied to the facts of this case, the above interpretation of the phrase "open to the public" yields the same result here as in Ocean. Steele had received a letter from Mr. Dompur's attorney requesting she not visit Dompur. According to her own testimony, Steele understood that she was prohibited from entering the Care Center premises and that she did not obtain permission to enter the premises on October 22, 1984. According to the testimony of Debra Hill, Jolene Andersen, and Officer Ann Grotegut, Steele was asked repeatedly to leave the premises and each time refused. In light of this evidence, it is clear that Steele was not a member of the general public to whom the Care Center was open. Furthermore, there is more reason in this case to hold that the premises were not open to the public than there was in Ocean. In that case the premises involved were that of a Fred Meyer retail department store. A retail store extends a broad invitation to the general public to enter its premises, to look, and to buy its products. A nursing home such as the Care Center, makes no such invitation. On this basis alone, the court may find that the Care Center was not open to the public when Steele entered its premises on October 22,

1984.

However, there is an additional basis such a finding to support such a finding. Dompur's election on the basis of his right as a patient at the Care Center supports the determination that the Care Center was not open to the public so far as Steele was concerned. Dr. Breinholt, the owner of the Care Center, testified that as a condition of the patients' participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, the Care Center is required to establish certain patients' rights. See 20 C.F.R. §405.1121 (K)(1977). A copy of the rights adopted by the Aspen Care Center is marked as Exhibit "11-D" at trial and is a part of this record on appeal. A much larger copy of that list of rights was posted in the lobby of posted in the lobby of the Care Center in October of 1984. One of those rights reads as follows:

"The patient has the right to associate and communicate with persons of his choice....."

(See Exhibit "11-D"). The evidence shows that Mr. Dompur's attorney advised Mrs. Steele by letter not to visit him at the Care Center. In addition, Mr. Dompur told Care Center employees Debra Hill and Jolene Anderson on more than one occassion that he did not want Mrs. Steele to visit him. By prohibiting Steele from entering the premises, the Care Center simply enforced Dompur's right.

This evidence clearly shows that the Care Center was not "open to the public" on October 22, 1984, so far as the appellant Vietta Steele was concerned, and that there was no substantial evidence to support the instruction. Since both requirements of

§76-6-206(4) must be met to establish the statutory defense the defense must fail, and this court should affirm the trial court's ruling that the instruction was not warranted. However, even if the court should find that the Care Center was open to the public to Mrs. Steele on October 22, 1984, the statutory defense is still not available to Steele because her conduct substantially interfered with the owner's use of the premises.

POINT II

SUBSTANTIAL INTERFERENCE

The statutory defense contained in Utah Code Ann. §76-6-206(4)(1978) requires as its second element a showing that "the actor's conduct did not substantially interfere with the owners use of the property". As with the first element of this defense, there is no Utah Case law which explains what substantial interference means in the context of this statute. In addition, a search of the case law in other states reveals no definition of substantial interference in the context of a criminal trespass. The question whether Steele's presence at the Care Center substantially interfered with the operation of the Care Center must, therefore, be decided on the basis of logic and sound reasoning, in light of the practical realities of nursing home administration.

To substantially interfere with the operation of a nursing home facility, the person's conduct must constitute such a burden upon the operation of the facility that the owner is unable to carry on the operation in a reasonably safe and proper manner. To operate a nursing home facility in a reasonably safe and proper manner, in

this context, means to be able to assure the patients' reasonable protection from disturbing and upsetting influences. To achieve that protection, the administrator of a nursing home facility must be able to control the environment within the facility. That includes the right to prohibit certain persons from visiting that facility who are likely to disturb or upset a patient. The patient himself, may certainly request that such persons be prohibited from entering the premises if that patient does not want to visit those people. See State v. Hoyt, 304 N.W.2d 884, 888-889 (Minn. 1981) (resident has the right to determine who he may associate with). In addition, the administrator of the facility has the discretion to prohibit such visits if in its judgment those visits would adversely affect the physical or emotional health of the patient. This is the proper standard to determine whether Steele's conduct constituted substantial interference in this case. This court should adopt that standard in deciding whether the second element of the statutory defense is met.

As measured by that standard, Steele's conduct on October 22, 1984 substantially interfered with the operation of the Care Center, and the second element of the statutory defense is, therefore, not met. The evidence shows that Dompur, his attorney and the Care Center had requested that Steele not return to visit Dompur. According to the testimony of Care Center employees, Dompur was emotionally upset by Steele's visits. Shortly before Steele's arrest, Dompur approached Care Center employee Debra Hill about Steele's visits. Dompur was crying and emotionally upset. He told

Hill that Steele had visited him the night before and that he did not want her to visit him again. Dompur had expressed the same concern some four months earlier and the Care Center sent the June 21st letter to Steele prohibiting her from visiting Dompur. Mr. Havas testified that when he visited Dompur, Dompur became visibly upset at the mention of Steele's name. In addition, when Steele arrived at the Care Center on the day of her arrest, Dompur once again told both Hill and Andersen that he did not want to see Steele. Andersen and Hill testified that in their judgment Steele's presence and the commotion she caused would adversely affect Mr. Dompur's emotional condition.

On that evidence, it is clear that Dompur did not want Steele to visit him. It is also clear that in the Care Center's judgment, Steele's visits were likely to further upset Dompur emotionally. Steele's visits, therefore, constituted a substantial interference with the operation of the Care Center. Her visits rendered the Care Center employees unable to protect Dompur from emotionally upsetting or disturbing influences. On this evidence, all reasonable men must conclude that there was no basis for a jury instruction on §76-6-206(4)(b). This court, therefore, should conclude that the requested instruction was properly denied.